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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

MARCUS WITHERSPOON, *

Maintiff, *
V. * Civil Action No. GLR-19-889
CO Il RYAN LAROSE and *

CO Il KEVIN CLARK,!

Defendants.

* k%

MEMORANDUM OPINION

THIS MATTER is beforethe Court on Defendants CO Il Ryan LaRose and CO ||
Kevin Clark’s Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment
(ECF No. 21). The Motionis ripe for disposition,and no hearingis necessary. See Local
Rule 105.6 (D.Md. 2018). For the reasonsoutlined below, the Court will grant Defendants’
Motion and dismissthe Complaint.

l. BACKGROUND

FPaintiff Marcus Witherspoon filed thiscivil rightsaction on March 25, 2019 while
he was incarcerated at the Maryland Correctional Training Center (“MCTC”) in
Hagerstown, Maryland. (See Compl., ECF No. 1).2 In his unverified Complaint,

Witherspoon alleged that he was maced duringa May 6, 2018 fight with hiscell mate. (1d.

! The Court will direct the Clerk to amend the docket to reflect the full and correct
names of Defendants CO Il Ryan LaRose and CO Il Kevin Clark.

2 Citations refer to the pagination assigned by the Court’s Case Management and
Electronic Case Files (“CM/ECF”) system.
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at 3). After the altercation, corrections officers placed Witherspoon in a new cell. (I1d.).
Witherspoon requested anew bed mattress, bedding, towels, and a washcloth because his
items were covered in mace. (1d.). Correctionsofficerstold him that his bedding, towels,
and washcloth would be cleaned, but that he would haveto pay for a new mattress. (I1d.).
Witherspoon refused to sign a money voucher to pay for the mattress. (1d.). Despite his
refusal to authorize the payment, $80.00 was later taken from his account. (Id.).
Witherspoon alleged that the money was taken after Defendantsforged his signature on a
voucher. (1d.). Witherspoon sought unspecified damages and the return of $80.00 taken
from his prison account. (1d.).

By Order dated April 1, 2019, the Court informed Witherspoon that the facts, as
presented, did not stateavalid claim. (Order at 2, ECF No. 3). In particular, the Court noted
that Witherspoon did not allege that the use of mace was unwarranted, that he was denied
a mattress for an extended period and suffered physical injury as a result, or that he was
not provided a new mattress. (1d.). Therefore, the Court granted Witherspoon additiona
time to supplement his Complaint. (1d.).

On April 15, 2019, Witherspoon filed an Amended Complaint repeating the same
allegations. (Am. Compl., ECF No. 4). Then, on May 17, 2019, Witherspoon filed
correspondence claimingthat Defendants took money out of his account “because of them
not liking me and them thinking because I have a mental disorder I wouldn’t be able to
figure out [what] they were doing.” (Correspondence, ECF No. 6). Witherspoon also
allegedthat Defendantstreated himdifferently than otherinmates, asno other inmates have

been forced to pay for a new mattress, including the other inmate involved in the



altercation. (1d. at 2). Witherspoon claimsthat he has been maced again sincetheMay 2018
incident, but he was not directed to pay for a new mattress the secondtime. (1d. at 4).

Witherspoon filed an Administrative Remedy Procedure (“ARP”) regarding the
incident, which theWarden dismissed. (ECF No. 4 at 2). Thereafter, Witherspoon appeaed
to the Commissioner of Correction, who dismissed the appeal. (Id.). Witherspoon claims
that he appealed to the Executive Director at the Department of Public Safety and
Correctional Services (“DPSCS”) but did not receivearesponse. (1d.).

On September 20, 2019, DefendantsfiledaMotionto Dismissor, inthe Alternative,
Motion for Summary Judgment. (ECF No. 21). Witherspoon filed an Opposition on
October 10, 2019. (ECF No. 27). To date, the Court has no record that Defendantsfiled a
Reply.

I. DISCUSSI ON

A. Standard of Review

To survive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), the factual allegations of a complaint “must be enough to raise a
right to relief abovethe speculativelevel on the assumption that all the allegationsin the

complaint are true (even if doubtful in fact).” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,

555 (2007) (citations omitted). “To satisfy this standard, a plaintiff need not ‘forecast’
evidencesufficienttoprovethe elementsof the claim. However, the complaint must allege

sufficient facts to establish those elements.” Waltersv. McMahen, 684 F.3d 435, 439 (4th

Cir. 2012) (citation omitted). A claim is plausible when the facts pleaded allow “the Court

to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”



Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Although courts should construepleadings of

self-represented litigants liberally, Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007), legal

conclusionsor conclusory statementsdo not suffice, Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678. The Court must
examinethe complaint asawhole, consider the factual allegationsinthe complaint astrue,
and construethefactual allegationsin the light most favorableto the plaintiff. Albright v.

Oliver, 510 U.S. 266, 268 (1994); Lambeth v. Bd. of Comm’rs of Davidson Cty., 407 F.3d

266, 268 (4th Cir. 2005).
B. Analysis
1. Exhaustion
Defendantsfirst argue that Witherspoon’s claim must be dismissed because he has
failed to exhaust his administrative remedies pursuant to the Prisoner Litigation Reform
Act (“PLRA™), 42 U.S.C. § 1997e. The PLRA providesin pertinent part that:
No action shall be brought with respect to prison conditionsunder section
1983 of thistitle, or any other Federal law, by a prisoner confined in any
jail, prison, or other correctional facility until such administrative
remediesas are available are exhausted.
42 US.C. § 1997e(a). For purposes of the PLRA, “the term ‘prisoner’ means any person
incarcerated or detained in any facility who is accused of, convicted of, sentenced for, or
adjudicateddelinquentfor, violationsof criminal law or thetermsand conditionsof parole,
probation, pretrial release, or diversionary program.” 42 U.S.C. § 1997¢(h). The phrase

“prison conditions” encompasses “all inmate suits about prison life, whether they involve

general circumstancesor particular episodes, and whether they allege excessiveforce or



some other wrong.” Porter v. Nussle, 534 U.S. 516, 532 (2002); see Chase v. Peay, 286

F.Supp.2d 523,528 (D.Md. 2003), aff’d, 98 F.App’x 253 (4th Cir. 2004).

Notably, administrative exhaustion under § 1997e(a) is not a jurisdictiona
requirement and does not impose a heightened pleading requirement on the prisoner.
Rather, the failure to exhaust administrative remedies is an affirmative defense to be

pleaded and proven by defendants. See Jones v. Bock, 549 U.S. 199, 215-16 (2007);

Anderson v. XYZ Corr. Health Servs., Inc., 407 F.2d 674, 682 (4th Cir. 2005).

Nevertheless, a claim brought by a prisoner who has not exhausted his administrative
remedies may not be considered by this Court. See Bock, 549 U.S. at 220. In other words,
exhaustionismandatory, anda courtusually may notexcuse an inmate’s failure to exhaust.
Rossv. Blake, 136 S.Ct. 1850, 1857 (2016).

DPSCS has made an Administrative Remedy Procedure (“ARP”) available to
Maryland state prisoners for “inmate complaint resolution.” See Md. Code Ann., Corr.
Servs. (“C.S.”) §§ 10-201 et seq.; Code of Maryland Regulations (“COMAR”)
12.07.01.01B(1). If the ARP isdenied, the prisoner has thirty daysto file an appeal with
the Commissioner of Correction. If the Commissioner of Correction denies the appeal, the
prisoner has thirty days to file a grievance with the Inmate Grievance Office (“1GO”).
OPS.185.0002.05D; C.S. 8810-206(a), 10-210; COMAR 12.07.01.05B. When filingwith
the IGO, a prisoner is requiredto include copies of the following: the initial request f or
administrative remedy, the Warden’s response to that request, a copy of the ARP appeal
filed with the Commissioner of Correction, and a copy of the Commissioner’s response.

COMAR 12.07.01.04(B)(9)(a). If the grievance is determined to be “wholly lacking in



merit on its face,” the IGO may dismiss it without a hearing. C.S. § 10-207(b)(1); see
COMAR 12.07.01.07B.An order of dismissal constitutesthefinal decision of the Secretary
of DPSCS for purposesof judicial review. C.S. 8 10-207(b)(2)(ii).

Here, Witherspoon failed to completely pursue his administrative remedies.
Although he completed thefirst two stepsby filing an ARP and an appeal from its denid,
itisundisputedthat hedidnot fileagrievancewith the IGO. Asdiscussed above, the PLRA
requiresthat inmates exhaust all available remedies. Because Witherspoon failed to do so,
his claimsare subject to dismissal .

2. Substantive Claims

Even if Witherspoon had properly exhausted his administrative remedies, his
Complaint would nonethel ess be subject to dismissal becauseit failsto statea claim upon
which relief may be granted. To bring aclaim pursuantto 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the plaintiff

must establish a violation of a constitutional right or federal law. See Baker v. McCollan,

443 U.S. 137, 140 (1979). Here, Witherspoon fails to identify the constitutional right or
federal law implicated by the removal of $80.00 from his prison account. Reading his
Complaint generously, Witherspoon, at best, appearsto bring a claim for deprivation of
property or discrimination. The Court addressesthese claimsin turn.

To the extent Witherspoon attempts to bring a claim for violation of due process
under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution, this claim is
unavailing. Claims of negligent deprivationof property by aprisonofficial donot implicate

the Due Process Clause. See Danielsv. Williams, 474 U.S. 327, 332, 335-36 (1986); see

also Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U. S. 527,540 (1981), overruled on other grounds by Danielsv.




Williams, 474 U.S. 327 (1986). Moreover, a claim of intentional deprivation of property
by a prison official doesnot state aconstitutional due process claim wherethe prisoner has

access to an adequate post-deprivation remedy. Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 533

(1984); see also Tydings v. Dep’t of Corrs., 714 F.2d 11, 12 (4th Cir. 1983). The right to

seek damages and injunctive relief in Maryland courts in a tort action constitutes an

adequate post-deprivationremedy for inmatesin Maryland prisons. See Junckerv. Tinney,

549 F.Supp. 574,579 (D. Md. 1982) ;3 seealso Hawesv. Foxwell, No. DKC-17-2598, 2018

WL 2389060, at *4 (D.Md. May 25, 2018) (notingthat the Maryland Tort Claims Act and
the IGO provide adequate post-deprivation remedies). Because Witherspoon has post-
deprivation remedies in state court, the allegation that Defendants intentionally took
Witherspoon’s personal property isinsufficient to state acolorable due processclaim. See
Hawes, 2018 WL 2389060, at *4 (dismissing an inmate’s property loss claim for failure to
state a cognizable constitutional claim).

To the extent Witherspoon allegesthat Defendants have discriminated against him
in violation of the Equal Protection Clause, thisclaimsimilarly fails. The Equal Protection
Clause generally requires the government to treat similarly situated people alike. See

Cleburnev. Cleburne Living Cir., Inc., 473 U.S. 432, 439 (1985). To show that his equd

protection rightswereviolated, aplaintiff must demonstrate that he wastreated differently

3 Although Juncker dealt with personal injury rather than property loss, its analysis
and conclusion that sufficient due process is aff orded through post-deprivation remedies
available in the Maryland courts also appliesto cases of lost or stolen property. See
Juncker, 549 F.Supp. at 579 (analyzing Parratt, 451 U. S. at 540).



than similarly situated inmates and the discrimination was intentional or purposeful. See

Williamsv. Bitner, 307 F.App’x 609,611 (3d Cir. 2009) (citing Wilson v. Schillinger, 761

F.2d 921, 929 (3d Cir. 1985)). Differential treatment alone does not state an equd
protection claimin the absence of ashowingthat theinmate was similarly situated to those

treated differently. See Moss v. Clark, 886 F.2d 686, 691 (4th Cir. 1989). If the plaintiff

satisfiesthefirstprong, “the court proceeds to determine whether the disparity in treatment

can be justified under the requisite level of scrutiny.” Veney v. Wyche, 293 F.3d 726, 730-

31 (4th Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing Morrison v. Garraghty, 239

F.3d 648, 654 (4th Cir. 2001)).

For the second prong, unless a suspect class is involved, disparate treatment “is
presumed to be valid and will be sustained ‘if there is a rational relationship between the
disparity of treatment and some legitimate governmental purpose.”” Veney, 293 F.3d at

731 (quoting Heller v. Doe, 509 U.S. 312, 319-20 (1993)). When equal protection

challenges arise in the prison context, however, “courts must adjust the level of scrutiny to
ensurethat prison officialsare afforded the necessary discretionto operatetheir facilities
in a safe and secure manner.” Id. at 732. That is, even when a “regulation impinges on
inmates’ constitutional rights, the regulation is valid if it is reasonably related to legitimate

penological interests.” King v. Rubenstein, 825 F.3d 206, 221 (4th Cir. 2016) (quoting

Turner v. Safley, 482 U.S. 78, 89 (2005)). To evaluate whether an action isreasonabl e, the

Court looksto: (1) whether there is a “valid, rational connection between the policy and
the penological interest”; (2) whether there is an “alternative means of exercisingthe right”

available to inmates; (3) what “impact accommodation of the asserted right will have on”



the prison, including guards, other inmates, and prison resources; and (4) “the absence of
ready alternatives that fully accommodate the prisoner’s rights at de minimis cost to valid
penological interests.” Id. (quotingMorrison, 239 F.3d at 655).

Even assuming there is merit to Witherspoon’s allegation that he was the only
inmate required to pay for a new mattress, Witherspoon failsto allege that any difference
in thetreatment of inmateswas unjustified. The DPSCS Executive Directive providestha
prison managing officialsmay deduct the value of state property that is destroyed by the
gross negligence of the inmate without that inmate’s authorization. See
ADM .245.0001.05(F)(3)(a)(ii). Becausethisregulation is reasonably related to | egitimate
penological interests, such as the ability of prison officialsto operatethe facility in a safe
manner, the factspresented heresimply do notriseto thelevel of an equal protectionclaim.

In sum, because Witherspoon fails to state a cognizable due process or equd
protection claim, his Complaint must be dismissed.

[11.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court will grant Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, or
inthe Alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment (ECF No. 21). A separate Order follows.
Entered this 16th day of September, 2020.

/sl

George L. Russell, 11
United States District Judge




